IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

NO. 17-1149

AMES 2304, LLC,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

VS.

CITY OF AMES, ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT,

Defendant/Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT HON. JUDGE MICHAEL J. MOON STORY COUNTY CASE NUMBER CVCV049820

RESPONDENT/APPELLEE'S APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW

Brent L. Hinders AT0003519 Hugh J. Cain AT0001379 Eric M. Updegraff AT0008025 HOPKINS & HUEBNER, P.C. 2700 Grand Avenue, Suite 111 Des Moines, IA 50312

Telephone: (515) 244-0111

Fax: (515) 244-8935

Email: <u>bhinders@hhlawpc.com</u>

hcain@hhlawpc.com

eupdegraff@hhlawpc.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT/APPELLEE

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

STATEMENT SUPPORTING FURTHER REVIEW

This case warrants further review because the Iowa Court of Appeals decided a case that presents an issue of broad public importance that the Supreme Court should ultimately determine. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(b)(4). Additionally, the Iowa Court of Appeals entered a decision in conflict with decisions of the Iowa Supreme Court. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(b)(1). The Iowa Court of Appeals determined that a party may preserve error in a writ of certiorari case by making a "general argument" and make "any argument below in support of the general proposition" and preserve error for "all conceivable arguments in support of the proposition, regardless of whether it made the argument below." (Court of Appeals Decision dated October 10, 2018 at 10-11).

BRIEF

The Iowa Supreme Court explained, "[i]t is a fundamental doctrine of appellate review that an issue must ordinarily be both raised and decided by the district court before we will decide them on appeal." *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002). The purpose behind this rule "relates to the essential symmetry required of our legal system." *Id.* It is not a sensible exercise of appellate review to consider issues "without the benefit of a full

record or lower court determination." *Id.* (quoting *Yee v. City of Escondido*, 503 U.S. 519, 538, 112 S. Ct. 1522, 1534, 118 L. Ed. 2d 153, 172 (1992)). The preservation of error rules require a party seeking to appeal an issue presented to, but not considered by, the district court to call the attention of the district court its failure to decide the issue. *Meier* at 540. The claim or issue raised does not need to be used as the basis of the decision for preservation to apply. *Id.* However, the "record must at least reveal the court was aware of the claim or issue and litigated it." *Id.* Additionally, an appellate court should not consider "alternative arguments and matters" that "were not specifically addressed by the trial court's ruling." *Sandbulte v. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 343 N.W.2d 457, 466 (Iowa 1984). (overruled on other grounds).

The Iowa Supreme Court set out a special standard for preservation of error doctrine for writ of certiorari cases in *Bontrager Auto Serv. v. Iowa City Bd. of Adjustment*, 748 N.W.2d 483, 487 (Iowa 2008). The Iowa Supreme Court explained:

"In most jurisdictions a reviewing court will not decide an issue which was not raised in the forum from which the appeal was taken. . . . A reviewing court will not entertain a new theory or a different claim not asserted on the board level." 4 Kenneth H. Young, *Anderson's American Law of Zoning* § 27:37, at 633-34 (4th ed. 1996); *accord* 83 Am. Jur. 2d *Zoning & Planning* § 957, at 791 (2006) ("It has been held that a reviewing court will not decide an issue that was not raised in the zoning board from

which an appeal has been taken."). Our court has similarly held that "issues must first be presented to the agency in order to be preserved for appellate review." *State ex rel. Miller v. DeCoster*, 608 N.W.2d 785, 789 (Iowa 2000); *accord Licari v. Bd. of Educ.*, 280 A.D.2d 673, 721 N.Y.S.2d 372, 373 (App. Div. 2001); *Iwan v. Zoning Bd. of Appeals*, 252 A.D.2d 913, 677 N.Y.S.2d 190, 191 (App. Div. 1998); *Leoni v. Whitpain Twp. Zoning Hearing Bd.*, 709 A.2d 999, 1002 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 1998). Based upon this principle and the record before us, we conclude the issue concerning the alleged inadequacy of the proposed parking spaces, which was not raised at the hearing before the board of adjustment, has not been preserved for this court's review.

Bontrager Auto. Serv. v. Iowa City Bd. of Adjustment, 748 N.W.2d 483, 487 (Iowa 2008).

The Iowa Supreme Court then found a lack of preservation of error concerning an argument about the interpretation of a parking ordinance. *Id.* (refusing to consider the argument "that the board failed to property interpret the parking-spaces requirement of the applicable city ordinance").

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that the Appellant made two different statutory construction arguments. First, Ames 2304 argued that "the 'increase in intensity' prohibition set forth in paragraph (i) does not apply to proposed remodels that do not increase the size of the structure." (Court of Appeals Decision p. 8). Second, Ames 2304 argued, for the first time in front of the Court of Appeals, that "the 'increase in intensity' prohibition does not apply to any property used for residential purposes under the definition of 'intensity' set forth in the ordinance..." (Court of

Appeals Decision p. 8). Ames 2304 never made this second argument to the Zoning Board of Adjustment, but, instead, merely presented the same arguments as are contained in its brief in support of petition for writ of certiorari. (App. 17).

There are strong policy reasons for preventing an individual from raising an alleged infirmity only after filing a writ of certiorari. The Vermont Supreme Court explained that "we have recognized the specialized expertise of the Board in determining whether it has jurisdiction over a particular development proposal." In re Denio, 158 Vt. 230, 235, 608 A.2d The Vermont Supreme Court explained "[i]f we adopt 1166 (1992). appellants' position, applicants will be able to avoid raising jurisdictional challenges before the Board, and seek a ruling for the first time in this Court if they are dissatisfied with the Board's action on the merits." Id. The Vermont Court found that this would result in "the most important decision on the scope of Act 250 will be made without involvement of the Board or its expertise." *Id.* The Court stated the purpose in having a more stringent preservation of error doctrine was "significant because for an administrative board of limited jurisdiction virtually any disagreement with its actions can be phrased in jurisdictional terms." *Id*.

The Court of Appeals incorrectly determined that Ames 2304's

original argument and new argument are simply "additional ammunition for the same argument..." (Court of Appeals Decision p. 11). The Plaintiff originally argued that the provisions of Ames Municipal Code 29.307(2)(a)(i) did not apply at all to its application. (App. 17). The Plaintiff argued in substance:

The permit for the proposed remodeling must be granted for two reasons. First, the proposed interior remodeling is subject to Section 29.307(2)(a)(ii) (Exterior and Interior Remodeling or Improvements to Structure). Ames, IA., Code §29.307(2)(a)(ii) (2016). This Section requires that any proposed interior remodeling "shall be permitted," as long as such remodeling does not "enlarge, expand, or extend' the structure of the building. Id. (emphasis added). Section 29.307(2)(a)(ii) does not contain any language regarding "intensity" of the nonconforming use. Id. Instead, 29.307(2)(a)(ii) requires the City to issue this permit because the Petitioner's proposed interior remodeling does not enlarge, expand, or extend the structure of the building. Id.

Second, even if the proposed interior remodeling were subject to an "increase in intensity" test, as the City asserts, the Petitioner's proposed interior remodeling does not cause any nonconforming use to be "increased in intensity," and therefore the remodeling must be permitted.

(App. 19).

Neither of these arguments was a contention that the "increase in intensity" test in 29.307(2)(a)(i) "does not apply to a residential building." The only argument that the "increase in intensity" test does not apply was that this project falls under paragraph (ii) and not paragraph (i). The alternative

argument is that the "increase in intensity" test does apply, but the facts support the conclusion that this project passes that test. The addition of a third argument, that paragraph (i) does not apply to residential properties, is a wholly new argument. It is not simply "more ammunition." It is not simply "additional authority."

The Defendant is not advocating for a preservation of error standard that requires "a party to provide the district court with the same authorities raised on appeal..." (Court of Appeals Decision p. 10). The Defendant is arguing that arguments must be raised before the administrative agency or board of adjustment.

Many people may scoff at the notion that a local board of adjustment has "specialized knowledge" concerning local ordinances. However, this record reveals that the Zoning Board of Adjustment could consult with government officials that helped write and interpret those ordinances on a daily basis. The Plaintiff deprived the local board of adjustment of the opportunity to ask questions and receive answers from the zoning authority concerning the meaning, interpretation and application of these ordinances. The Plaintiff accomplished this deprivation by waiting until approximately fifteen months after the Zoning Board of Adjustment's decision to raise for the first time its third argument.

The procedural rules for a writ of certiorari provide the last and most important policy justification for a more stringent preservation of error standard. The Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure require that a petition for certiorari "must be filed within 30 days from the time the tribunal, board or officer exceeded its jurisdiction or otherwise acted illegally." I.R.C.P. 1.1402(3). Iowa Code Section 414.15 requires that a person seeking a writ of certiorari from a city zoning decision must file a petition "duly verified, setting forth that such decision is illegal, in whole or in part, specifying the grounds of the illegality." I.C.A. § 414.15. The specificity of the "grounds of illegality" is important because it informs both the decision to grant the writ and the contents of the order granting the writ. I.R.C.P. 1.1406. (requiring a writ return including "a transcript of so much of the defendant's records and proceedings as are pertinent to the petition..."). Neither the district court nor the board of adjustment can adequately process the writ of certiorari when a petitioner fails to raise specific issues in the petition for writ of certiorari. The district court cannot tailor the writ to illegalities that are not raised. The board of adjustment cannot submit documents for a record return related to undisclosed illegalities.

The Iowa Supreme Court in *Bontrager* announced the principle that an issue "which was not raised at the hearing before the board of adjustment,

has not been preserved for this court's review." *Bontrager* at 488. The requirement for a more stringent preservation of error is entirely appropriate in the context of a writ of certiorari challenging a zoning board of adjustment decision. The unique nature of the processing of a writ of certiorari requires sufficient notice for the zoning board to address potential issues before the board so that the board can include in the transcript analysis, discussion and evidence relevant to the potential issue. A board of adjustment cannot consider evidence and legal issues after rendering its decision. As a result the board of adjustment's record return on issues not raised before it will always be insufficient and incomplete.

Respectfully submitted,

By: /s/ Brent L. Hinders
Brent L. Hinders AT0003519

/s/ Hugh J. Cain Hugh J. Cain AT0001379

/s/ Eric M. Updegraff
Eric M. Updegraff AT008025
HOPKINS & HUEBNER, P.C.
2700 Grand Avenue, Suite 111
Des Moines, IA 50312
Telephone: (515) 244-0111

Fax: (515) 244-8935

Email: <u>bhinders@hhlawpc.com</u> hcain@hhlawpc.com

 $\underline{eupdegraff@hhlawpc.com}$

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT/APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

This brief complies with the type-volume limitation of Iowa R. App. 6.903(1)(g)(1) because this brief contains 1,890 words, excluding the parts of the brief exempted by Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(1)(g)(9).

This brief complies with the typeface requirements of Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(1)(e) and they type-style requirements of Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(1)(f) because this brief has been prepared in a proportionally spaced typeface using Times New Roman 14.

By: /s/ Eric M. Updegraff

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Eric M. Updegraff, a member of the Bar of Iowa, hereby certify that on the 29th day of October, 2018, I served the above Appellee's Application for Further Review by electronic filing thereof to the following:

Debra Hulett Nyemaster Goode, P.C. 700 Walnut, Suite 1600 Des Moines, Iowa 50309

By: /s/ Eric M. Updegraff

CERTIFICATE OF FILING

I, Eric M. Updegraff hereby certify that I, or a person acting on my direction, did file the attached Appellee's Application for Further Review by electronic thereof to the Clerk of the Iowa Supreme Court at 1111 East Court Avenue, Des Moines, Iowa 50319 on this 29th day of October, 2018.

By: /s/ Eric M. Updegraff

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF IOWA

No. 17-1149 Filed October 10, 2018

AMES 2304, LLC,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

CITY OF AMES, ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT,

Defendant-Appellee.

Appeal from the Iowa District Court for Story County, Michael J. Moon, Judge.

Ames 2304, LLC appeals the district court order annulling its writ of certiorari. **REVERSED AND REMANDED.**

Debra Hulett of Nyemaster Goode, P.C., Des Moines, for appellant.

Eric M. Updegraff, Brent L. Hinders, and Hugh J. Cain of Hopkins & Huebner, P.C., Des Moines, for appellee.

Heard by Vaitheswaran, P.J., and Doyle and Mullins, JJ.

DOYLE, Judge.

The Ames Zoning Board of Adjustment (Board) denied an application by Ames 2304, LLC for a permit to remodel the interior of its apartment building that would increase the number of bedrooms in the building but not the number of dwelling units. The Board denied the application, determining the proposed remodel was prohibited under the zoning ordinance because the project would increase the intensity of a nonconforming use. It reasoned that the addition of bedrooms and concomitant addition of required off-street parking would intensify the nonconforming use. Ames 2304 petitioned the district court for a writ of certiorari. The district court annulled the writ, and Ames 2304 appeals.

On appeal, Ames 2304 alleges the Board acted illegally in denying its application for a permit. In the context of the facts presented, we interpret the ordinance to tie "increase in intensity" to an increase in number of dwelling units, and not to an increase in number of bedrooms, occupants, or required off-street parking. We conclude that because the proposed remodeling project does not increase the number of dwelling units, it does not violate the ordinance's prohibition against increases in intensity of a nonconforming use. The Board's interpretation of the ordinance on this issue is erroneous and denial of the permit on that basis illegal. We therefore reverse the judgment of the district court. We remand to the district court for an order sustaining the writ of certiorari.

I. Background Facts and Proceedings.

Ames 2304 owns the property at 2304 Knapp Street in Ames. The property is currently zoned as "Low Density Residential," which only permits one single-family residential dwelling per lot. The structure standing on the lot was built in

1910 as a single-family structure. It was converted into an apartment building consisting of four one-bedroom apartments in 1928. Because the property was converted before the current zoning ordinance went into effect, it is allowed to continue as a legal nonconforming use.

In 2016, Ames 2304 applied for a permit to remodel the property's interior. The remodel would change the four one-bedroom units into two studio units, one two-bedroom unit, and one three-bedroom unit. A zoning enforcement officer denied the permit after determining that the increase in the number of bedrooms to the building and increase in required off-street parking would increase the intensity of the nonconforming use, which the officer concluded was not permitted under the zoning ordinance. Ames 2304 appealed the decision to the Board. After a hearing, the Board affirmed the decision of the zoning enforcement officer.

Ames 2304 filed an action for writ of certiorari in district court. The district court determined the Board correctly interpreted the zoning ordinance section pertaining to nonconforming uses, correctly determined that the increase in number of bedrooms constituted an increase in the intensity of the nonconformance, and correctly interpreted the provisions of the parking space ordinance as evidencing an increase in intensity of the nonconforming use. The court annulled the writ, and Ames 2304 appeals.

II. Scope of Review.

We review the district court's judgment in a certiorari action for correction of errors at law. See State v. Iowa Dist. Ct. ex rel. Story Cty., 843 N.W.2d 76, 79-80 (Iowa 2014). We are bound by the findings of the trial court if supported by substantial evidence in the record. See Iowa R. App. P. 6.907; Nash Finch Co. v.

City Council of City of Cedar Rapids, 672 N.W.2d 822, 825 (Iowa 2003). However, we are not bound by erroneous legal rulings that materially affect the court's decision. See Chrischilles v. Arnolds Park Zoning Bd. of Adjustment, 505 N.W.2d 491, 493 (Iowa 1993).

III. Discussion.

A certiorari action is a procedure to test whether an inferior board, tribunal, or court exceeded proper jurisdiction or otherwise acted illegally. See Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.1401. An illegality exists when an inferior tribunal has failed to apply the law properly or when its factual findings are not supported by substantial evidence. See Denison Mun. Utils. v. Iowa Workers' Comp. Comm'r, 857 N.W.2d 230, 234 (Iowa 2014). Ames 2304 bears the burden of proving the illegality. See City of Grimes v. Polk Cty. Bd. of Supervisors, 495 N.W.2d 751, 752 (Iowa 1993).

The question before the Board and the district court involved an interpretation of the zoning ordinance. "Although we give deference to the board of adjustment's interpretation of its city's zoning ordinances, final construction and interpretation of zoning ordinances is a question of law for us to decide." *Lauridsen v. City of Okoboji Bd. of Adjustment*, 554 N.W.2d 541, 543 (Iowa 1996).

Ames 2304 contends the Board acted illegally in denying it a permit for its proposed remodeling plan by incorrectly applying the zoning ordinance's prohibition against intensification of nonconforming uses. It also contends substantial evidence does not support the Board's finding that the plan would increase the intensity of the nonconforming use.

A. Ordinance.

The property in question is a nonconforming use.

A nonconforming use is one "that lawfully existed prior to the time a zoning ordinance was enacted or changed, and continues after the enactment of the ordinance even though the use fails to comply with the restrictions of the ordinance." *City of Okoboji v. Okoboji Barz, Inc.*, 746 N.W.2d 56, 60 (Iowa 2008). This lawfully existing prior use of the property creates a vested right in the continuation of the nonconforming use once the ordinance takes effect unless the nonconforming use is legally abandoned, enlarged, or extended. *Id.*

City of Des Moines v. Ogden, 909 N.W.2d 417, 423-24 (Iowa 2018). At issue is Ames Municipal Ordinance section 29.307(2), the ordinance addressing nonconforming uses. It states in part:

(2) Nonconforming Uses.

Any use of any structure or lot that was conforming or validly nonconforming and otherwise lawful at the enactment date of this ordinance and is nonconforming under the provisions of this Ordinance or that shall be made nonconforming by a subsequent amendment, may be continued so long as it remains otherwise lawful, subject to the standards and limitations of this Section.

- (a) Movement, Alteration and Enlargement.
 - (i) Enlargement.
 - a. A nonconforming use may not be increased in intensity and may not be enlarged, expanded or extended to occupy parts of another structure or portions of a lot that it did not occupy on the effective date of this Ordinance, unless the enlargement, expansion or extension complies with all requirements for the zone, does not create an additional nonconformity, and is approved for a Special Use Permit, . . . except as described in subsection b. following.
 - b. Any building or structure containing a nonconforming use may be enlarged up to 125% of the floor area existing on the effective date of this ordinance, provided that the expanded building structure complies with all density, coverage and spatial requirements of the zone in which it is located.
 - c. The enlargement of a nonconforming use that has the effect of making a structure nonconforming, other than as described in subsection b. above, shall not be specially permitted . . . , but rather shall be construed as a request for a variance

(ii) Exterior or Interior Remodeling or Improvements to Structure.

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