In The Iowa Supreme Court
Supreme Court No. 17-1149

AMES 2304, LLC,

Petitioner-Appellant,

vs.

CITY OF AMES, ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT,

Respondent-Appellee.

Appeal from the District Court for Story County

The Honorable Michael J. Moon

Ames 2304, LLC's Resistance to Application for Further Review

Iowa Court of Appeals Decision filed October 10, 2018

Debra Hulett, AT0003665
NYEMASTER GOODE, P.C.
700 Walnut Street, Suite 1600
Des Moines, IA 50309
Telephone: 515-283-3100
Facsimile: 515-283-8045
Email: dlhulett@nyemaster.com

ATTORNEYS FOR
PETITIONER-APPELLANT
AMES 2304, LLC

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

¹ “Chapter 29 of the Ames Municipal Code is a comprehensive and detailed zoning ordinance enacted by the City in April 2000 to regulate the use of real estate within the City’s boundaries.” *Ames Rental Prop. Ass’n v. City of Ames*, 736 N.W.2d 255, 257 (Iowa 2007).

² A nonconforming property use is one “that lawfully existed prior to the time a zoning ordinance was enacted or changed, and continues after the enactment of the ordinance even though the use fails to comply with the restrictions of the ordinance.” *City of Des Moines v. Ogden*, 909 N.W.2d 423-24 (Iowa 2018) (citation and internal punctuation omitted). The property’s prior use “creates a vested right in the continuation of the nonconforming use once the ordinance takes effect.” *Id.* at 423-24.

Board now complains because, in interpreting the zoning code and attempting to resolve ambiguous statutory text, the Court of Appeals considered the Code’s definition of “intensity.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.201(109) (JA 234). The Board argues Ames 2304 didn’t preserve error because it did not cite the definition of “intensity” below.

The Court of Appeals considered and rejected the Board’s argument that Ames 2304 failed to preserve error. The Court of Appeals concluded “the preservation question turns on whether the nature of the error has been timely brought to the attention of the district court.” Court of Appeals Opinion 10 (“Opinion”) (citation omitted). The Court of Appeals correctly determined that Ames 2304’s citation to the zoning code’s definition of “intensity” was “additional ammunition for the same argument . . . made below—not a new argument advanced on appeal.” Opinion 11 (citation and internal punctuation omitted).

A. The district court analyzed whether an interior remodeling permit would result in an “increase in intensity” to a nonconforming use.

Ames 2304, LLC owns the property located at 2304 Knapp Street, Ames (“2304 Knapp”).³ Opinion 3. In 1910, 2304 Knapp was built as a single-family residence.⁴ Opinion 3. In 1928, 2304 Knapp converted from a single-family home to an apartment building with four one-bedroom units.⁵ Opinion 3. Since then, 2304 Knapp has remained a four-unit residential apartment building.⁶ Opinion 3. Under the Code, 2304 Knapp’s use as a four-unit apartment building is a “pre-existing” and legal nonconforming use.⁷ Opinion 3.

In 2016, Ames 2304 applied for an interior-remodeling permit. Opinion 3. Ames 2304’s proposed interior-remodeling plan would alter interior walls and upgrade unit layout, while maintaining 2304

³ JA 121-123.

⁴ JA 121-123, 176-183.

⁵ JA 115.

⁶ JA-148.

⁷ JA 115-116, 121-123, 125-128, 131-133, 140-143, 168-169, 173, 176-183.

Knapp's nonconforming use as a four-unit apartment building.⁸

Opinion 3. The remodeling plan "would change the four one-bedroom units into two studio units, one two-bedroom unit, and one three-bedroom unit." Opinion 3.

The statutory interpretation issue surrounding the permit is whether the interior-remodeling plan would result in an "increase in intensity" of the nonconforming use. The Code regulates nonconformities generally, including nonconforming uses and interior remodeling:

(2) **Nonconforming Uses.** Any use of any structure or lot that was conforming or validly nonconforming and otherwise lawful at the enactment date of this ordinance and is nonconforming under the provisions of this Ordinance or that shall be made nonconforming by a subsequent amendment, may be continued so long as it remains otherwise lawful, subject to the standards and limitations of this Section.

(a) Movement, Alteration and Enlargement.

(i) Enlargement.

⁸ JA 115-116, 118-119, 121-123, 125-129, 131-133, 140-141, 147-153, 168-169, 176-183.

a. A nonconforming use may not be increased in intensity and may not be enlarged, expanded or extended to occupy parts of another structure or portions of a lot that it did not occupy on the effective date of this Ordinance, unless the enlargement, expansion or extension complies with all requirements for the zone, does not create an additional nonconformity, and is approved for a Special Use Permit

b. Any building or structure containing a nonconforming use may be enlarged up to 125% of the floor area existing on the effective date of this ordinance, provided that the expanded building or structure complies with all density, coverage and spatial requirements of the zone in which it is located.

c. The enlargement of a nonconforming use that has the effect of making a structure nonconforming, other than as described in subsection b. above, shall not be specially permitted

(ii) Exterior or Interior Remodeling or Improvements to Structure. Exterior or interior remodeling or improvements to a structure containing a nonconforming use shall be permitted, provided that any proposed enlargement, expansion or extension shall be subject to the provisions set forth in the above paragraph.

(iii) Relocation of Structure. A structure containing a nonconforming use shall not be moved unless the use and structure will comply with all of the regulations that apply in the new location

Ames Mun. Co.:” de § 29.307(2)(a) (JA 248-249).

The Code defines “intensity

(109) **Intensity** means the degree or level of concentration to which land is used for commercial, industrial or any other nonresidential purpose.

Ames Mun. Code § 29.201(109) (JA 234).

An Ames zoning enforcement officer denied the permit, reasoning that the proposed interior-remodeling plan would result in an “increase in the intensity” of the nonconforming use. Opinion 3.

(JA 121). The Ames zoning enforcement officer reasoned the increase in bedrooms would be an increase in intensity:

staff still makes the determination from code that the intensity of a nonconforming use cannot be increased, which is the addition of units or bedrooms to the site. What are you [sic] showing in your floor plans in an *increase in bedrooms which is an increase in the intensity of the existing nonconforming use.*

(JA 121) (emphasis added).

Ames 2304 disputed the zoning enforcement officer’s conclusion and appealed the interior-remodeling permit denial to the Board. Opinion 3. (JA 176-184). In part, Ames 2304 argued that “the proposed remodel does not constitute an increase in intensity.” (JA

179). Ames 2304 appeared through counsel and presented arguments based on the Code's statutory language, including an argument that the proposed remodeling plan did not increase the intensity of the use. (JA 78-80).

In a 3-1 vote, the Board denied the permit. (JA 130). The Board made two conclusions to affirm the zoning enforcement officer's decision. (JA 130). First, under Ames Municipal Code § 29.307(2), "interior remodel of a nonconforming use *cannot be increased in intensity.*" (JA 130) (emphasis added). Second, an increase in bedrooms *is an increase in intensity* of use for a "nonconforming residential apartment unit." (JA 130) (emphasis added). The Board's written order affirming the decision of the zoning enforcement officer concluded that the interior-remodeling plan would cause an increase in "intensity." (JA 133).

Ames 2304 filed an action for writ of certiorari in the district court. Opinion 3. (JA 11-13). Relying on the Board's reasoning, the district court affirmed the Board's denial of the interior-remodeling

permit. (JA 206-218). The district court concluding that the Board correctly denied the permit because the proposed remodeling plan would result in an “increase in intensity.” (JA 206-218). Interpreting the “increase in intensity” statutory language, the district court concluded in part that “[a]n interpretation of the term ‘increase in intensity’ in the Ames ordinance cannot ignore the practical effect of increasing the number of occupants.” (JA 215). The district court concluded that “[the Board] correctly interpreted . . . Section 29.307(2)(a) as prohibiting an increase in the intensity of a nonconformity through a remodeling project.” (JA 217). The district court also concluded “[the Board] correctly determined that the increase in bedrooms from 4 to 7 constitutes an *increase in the intensity of the nonconformance*.” (JA 217) (emphasis added). Finally, the district court concluded “[the Board] correctly interpreted the provisions of the parking space ordinance as evidencing an *increase in intensity of the nonconforming use*.” (JA 217) (emphasis added). Without question,

the district court's ruling turned on statutory interpretation, particularly the text "increase in intensity."

B. The Court of Appeals interpreted the zoning code's statutory text regarding an "increase in intensity."

On appeal, Ames 2304 again argued the Board acted illegally in denying its permit application because the proposed remodel would not result in an "increase in intensity."

The Court of Appeals interpreted the ordinance's statutory language regarding "increase in intensity." Opinion 2. Because the appeal turned on statutory interpretation, the standard of review is *de novo*. *Lauridsen v. City of Okoboji Bd. of Adjustment*, 554 N.W.2d 541, 543 (Iowa 1996). The Court of Appeals summarized its interpretation of the zoning ordinance:

In the context of the facts presented, we interpret the ordinance to tie "increase in intensity" to an increase in number of dwelling units, and not to an increase in number of bedrooms, occupants, or required off-street parking. We conclude that because the proposed remodeling project does not increase the number of dwelling units, it does not violate the ordinance's prohibition against increases in intensity of a nonconforming use. The Board's interpretation of the

ordinance on this issue is erroneous and denial of the permit on that basis illegal.

Opinion 2.

The Court of Appeals determined that “the section 29.307(2)(a) prohibition of increases in intensity, as applied to residential uses, is tied only to an increase in the number of dwelling units.” Opinion 15. The Court of Appeals concluded that “[u]nder our interpretation of the ordinance, the proposed remodel does not violate the ordinance’s prohibition against an increase in intensity of the nonconforming use.” Opinion 15.

Although the Board’s application is solely predicated on an error-preservation argument, the Court of Appeals ultimately interpreted the statute in a manner that was not advanced by either party. The Board argued that an increase in bedrooms was an increase in intensity, even though the structure would continue to have four apartment units. Ames 2304 argued that an increase in intensity could never apply to a residential property use, because the definition of “intensity” applied only to non-residential uses. The

Court of Appeals did not adopt either interpretation. Instead, appropriately engaging in de novo review to interpret the statute, the Court of Appeals determined “the section 29.307(2)(a) prohibition of increases in intensity, as applied to residential uses, is tied only to an increase in the number of dwelling units.” Opinion 15. How could error preservation have made a difference in the outcome of this appeal when the Court of Appeals conducted an independent, de novo statutory interpretation analysis? The Court of Appeals necessarily considered the statutory text in deciding whether an “increase in intensity” occurred.

The Board proposes an error-preservation rule that would cabin an appellate court’s ability to engage in statutory interpretation. Error-preservation rules do not preclude the Court of Appeals and this Court from considering relevant statutory text when engaging in statutory interpretation.

C. The Court of Appeals properly considered the statutory definition of “intensity” when it interpreted the zoning code.

This zoning-permit dispute has always centered on interpreting the zoning code’s “increase in intensity” statutory text. Generally, zoning restrictions are constructed “strictly in order to favor the free use of property.” *Ernst v. Johnson Cty.*, 522 N.W.2d 599, 602 (Iowa 1994). Courts avoid “an interpretation which would make them confiscatory.” *Id.* (citing *Jersild v. Sarcone*, 149 N.W.2d 179, 183 (Iowa 1967)). “A zoning ordinance should not be extended by implication to prevent a use not clearly prohibited.” *Johnson*, 239 N.W.2d at 881-82. “Simply stated, a board of adjustment cannot disregard the provisions of, nor exceed the power conferred by, a zoning ordinance.” *Id.* at 886. (citation omitted).

When a court interprets municipal zoning ordinances, general rules of statutory construction apply. *Baker v. Bd. of Adjustment*, 671 N.W.2d 405, 416 (Iowa 2003); *Lauridsen*, 554 N.W.2d at 543. In determining what a statute means, the Court will first look to the

statute's language. *Myria Holdings Inc. v. Iowa Dep't of Revenue*, 892 N.W.2d 343, 348 (Iowa 2017).

When a term—such as intensity—is defined by statute, the statutory definition should control. “[T]he legislature may act as its own lexicographer.” *The Sherwin-Williams Co. v. Iowa Dep't of Revenue*, 789 N.W.2d 417, 425 (Iowa 2010) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). “When it does so, [courts] are normally bound by the legislature’s own definitions.” *Id.* See also *Jersild v. Sarcone*, 149 N.W.2d 179, 187 (Iowa 1967) (reviewing certiorari action to correct errors at law, “[the appellate court] cannot rewrite the [ordinance]”). Legislatively prescribed standards provides stability and allow property owners to know what to expect. See *Chicago R.I. & P.R. Co. v. Liddle*, 112 N.W.2d 852, 854-55 (Iowa 1962). As a quasi-judicial body, The Board “cannot disregard the provisions of, nor exceed the power conferred by, a zoning ordinance.” *Johnson v. Bd. of Adjustment*, 239 N.W.2d 873, 886 (Iowa 1976).

Here, the Code’s language controls. Under the title “General Rules of Construction,” the Code establishes straightforward principles for construing the zoning ordinance:

In the construction of this Ordinance, words and phrases shall be construed according to the commonly approved usage of the language, except that technical words and phrases that have acquired a particular and appropriate meaning in law shall be construed accordingly.

Ames Mun. Code § 29.200 (JA 229). Related statutes should be read together in an attempt to harmonize them. *In re A.M.*, 856 N.W.2d 365, 372 (Iowa 2014). Courts “read statutes as a whole rather than looking at words and phrases in isolation.” *Matter of Estate of Gantner*, 893 N.W.2d 896, 902 (Iowa 2017) (citations omitted).

The Ames City Council intended that these definitions would apply to the entire Ames zoning code. *See Lauridsen*, 554 N.W.2d at 544. Article 2 is titled “Rules of Construction and Definitions.” (JA 229). Under the “Definitions” heading, the Code defines 250 terms and phrases. Ames Mun. Code § 29.201 (JA 229-243). These definitions apply, “[e]xcept as otherwise defined in this Ordinance or

unless the context may otherwise require.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.201 (JA 229). “Intensity” is not defined elsewhere. Contextually, there is no reason to conclude a different interpretation is required for nonconforming uses. “[L]egislative intent is expressed by omission as well as by inclusion, and the express mention of one thing implies the exclusion of others not so mentioned.” *Kucera v. Baldazo*, 745 N.W.2d 481, 487 (Iowa 2008) (citation and internal punctuation omitted).

The Code affirmatively recognizes the property owners’ interest. Section 29.307 regulates “Nonconformities.” The City’s expressly stated general policy protects nonconforming uses: “It is the general policy of the City to allow uses, structures and lots that came into existence legally, in conformance with then-applicable regulations, to continue to exist and be put to productive use.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.307(1)(a) (JA 248). The stated purpose in regulating nonconformities is to “[r]ecognize the interests of property owners in continuing to use their property.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.307(1)(a)(i)

(JA 248). The City intends to “[p]romote reuse and rehabilitation of existing buildings.” Ames Mun. Code § 29.307(1)(a)(ii) (JA 248).

The Court of Appeals applied these well-recognized principles to interpret an ambiguous statute.

Conclusion

This appeal presents no issue of broad public importance for this Court to determine. The Court of Appeals’ decision is consistent with and presents no conflict with this Court’s precedent. The Court should decline to grant further review, because the Court of Appeals’ well-reasoned decision is based on sound precedent. Ames 2304, LLC respectfully requests that the Court deny City of Ames, Zoning Board of Adjustment’s application for further review.